AN INTERGENERATIONAL MIGRATION EXPERIENCE: SOCIAL MOBILITY AMONG RETURN MIGRANTS AND THEIR FAMILIES IN MEXICO

A thesis submitted to the faculty at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Sociology.

Chapel Hill 2017

Approved by:

Jacqueline M. Hagan

Lisa D. Pearce

Ted Mouw

© 2017 Janelle Ashley Viera ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Janelle Ashley Viera: An Intergenerational Migration Experience: Social Mobility Among Return Migrants and their Families in Mexico (Under the direction of Jacqueline M. Hagan)

This study examines intergenerational social mobility pathways within families of mixed migratory status. Focusing on the residents of Leon, Mexico, I use a mixed methods analysis of interviews and survey data on 50 return migrants to Leon to identify signs of intergenerational social mobility within their families. The study finds that parental return migration plays a role in determining a family's potential for upward mobility. Findings show that migrants' labor market experiences, both abroad and upon return to the origin country, influence their likelihood of intergenerational social mobility. Labor market experiences prove especially influential over these families' mobility pathways, with these experiences directly affecting the occupational and educational opportunities of the return migrants and their children, respectively. The study ultimately demonstrates international migration's potential to disrupt social class reproduction and highlights the implications of migration on the future economic success of migrant families with low levels of traditional human capital.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I cannot express enough gratitude to my advisor and mentor, Dr. Jacqueline Hagan, for all of her guidance, encouragement, and enthusiasm throughout this research experience and my time in graduate school. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Lisa Pearce and Dr. Ted Mouw, for their helpful feedback during this research process. It has truly been a privilege to work with such kind and insightful scholars. I am also grateful to many other faculty members and graduate students at UNC and other universities who read through and commented on my work. Your assistance has proven invaluable to this research. Finally, I would like to thank my family and lifelong friends for all of the love and emotional support they have offered me since before I began my graduate study. Not only do you inspire my academic success, but you also encourage me to be proud of where I come from as I work towards achieving my educational and professional goals.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Social Stratification and Mobility in Mexico	5
Intergenerational Mobility Within Return Migrant Families	8
Parental Migration and Social Mobility Among Children Left Behind	12
DATA AND METHODS	22
Site Selection	22
Research Design	24
RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	27
Sample Profile	27
Occupational Changes Within Return Migrant Families	28
Changes in Education Levels within Return Migrant Families	34
Mechanisms of Intergenerational Social Mobility	35
Parental Aspirations	41
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	44
APPENDIX	47
REFERENCES	50

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 - Sample Profile of Leon Return Migrant Families by Generation	47
Table 2 - Distribution of Return Migrant Families Sample by Generation and Economic Sector (2015)	48
Table 3 - Distribution of Return Migrant Sample and Total Working Population of Leon, Ages 28-64, by Economic Sector (2010)	48
Table 4 - Distribution of Children of Return Migrant Sample and Total Working Population of Leon, Ages 15-58, by Economic Sector (2015, 2010)	49
Table 5 - Years of Study of Children of Return Migrant Sample and Total Population of Leon, Ages 18-54 (2015, 2010)	49

INTRODUCTION

This thesis examines intergenerational social mobility among Mexican return migrants, their parents, and their children. In the social sciences, scholars have widely examined intergenerational mobility both theoretically and empirically and have found that transmission of educational or occupational status occurs from parent to child, and this process can lead to upward, downward, or stagnant mobility (Blau and Duncan 1967; Haller and Portes 1973). Much of the existing literature on mobility among migrants with low educational attainment has explored the occupational mobility of migrants themselves (Lindstrom 1996; Akresh 2006; Hagan, Hernández-León, and Demonsant 2015). Migration scholars have also conducted many studies on the mobility pathways of migrant children, as well as on the second generation born in the host country, and have paid particular attention to understanding the incorporation experiences of Latin American migrants and their children in post-1965 United States (Portes and Zhou 1993; Portes and Rumbaut 2001; Levitt and Waters 2006; Telles and Ortiz 2008; Kasinitz et al. 2009; Caponi 2011; Alba and Waters 2011). However, our understanding of how migration affects educational and occupational mobility across generations, especially among the parents and children of return migrants left behind in the country of origin, is limited. Few studies to date have investigated intergenerational mobility among multi-generational families comprised of migrant and non-migrant members (Guveli et al. 2016), and only a fraction of these studies have explored this specific process in the Mexican context (Antman 2002; Creighton et al. 2009; Halpern-Manners 2011; Lu 2014; Nobles 2011; Silver 2006). This research gap likely exists due to methodological constraints, particularly a lack of robust longitudinal data.

To address this gap in scholarship, in this thesis I investigate whether or not educational or occupational mobility is visible across three generations, which include the return migrants themselves, their parents, and their children. Drawing upon literature on return migration and social mobility, I posit that the human and financial capital that working-class Mexican migrants with little schooling acquire while abroad shape pathways of intergenerational social mobility between migrants and their parents, as well as between migrants and their children. In this paper, human capital refers to the knowledge and skills that migrants acquire primarily from their labor market experiences abroad, and financial capital includes remittances sent to migrant households in sending communities. Return migrants to Mexico often transfer new knowledge and skills that they acquired while working abroad to the country of origin's labor market (Hagan et al. 2015). The applicability of these forms of human capital can create new job opportunities for the migrants that may result in intergenerational mobility, vis-à-vis occupational status, between migrants and their parents. Return migrants may also develop new ideas about work and school that they share with their non-migrant children, in addition to job skills. Furthermore, they often send remittances home to supplement household incomes and fund children's schooling. Therefore, the transfer of new aspirations and forms of human and financial capital between migrant parents and children may facilitate intergenerational mobility in terms of education or occupational status.

My project is well-suited to investigate these claims. It employs findings from 2010 indepth interviews and 2015 follow-up interviews with 50 return migrants in Guanajuato, Mexico, as well as survey data on returnees' parents and children, to consider the following research questions:

- 1. Is there educational and occupational mobility within families of return migrants across three generations? If so, what do these mobility pathways look like?
- 2. Do the social mobility pathways of return migrants and their children resemble the typical mobility pathways of peers in Leon more generally?
- 3. What social mechanisms explain occurrences of intergenerational social mobility within return migrant families?

If return migrant families experience social mobility across three generations, the main mechanism that will shape these mobility pathways will be the international migration experience of the returnees. More specifically, the skills that return migrants acquire in the United States and transfer back to their work upon return will afford them employment opportunities that offer incentives such as increased wages, financial stability, and job satisfaction. A key mobility pathway for return migrants will be an exit from Leon's shoe, leather, and textile manufacturing industry, which offers very limited mobility opportunities, and into other kinds of work that allow them to apply new skills acquired abroad. Among the children of return migrants, I expect them to have completed more schooling than their parents. Financial remittances will increase household allowances that can be used towards children's education expenses. I also posit that a smaller percentage of children to be employed in shoes. In these ways, the social mobility pathways of return migrants and their children will differ from those of other Leon residents.

In the following two sections, I will engage with the scholarships on social reproduction and social mobility among return migrants and their children in order to situate this thesis. I will also provide an overview of the economic context in Mexico since the second half of the twentieth century. This overview serves two purposes: it will provide a better understanding of the labor market conditions under which migrants emigrated and returned to Mexico, and it will highlight the changes to Mexico's education system over time that affect the schooling experiences of return migrants' children. Then, I describe the research site and methodology,

following by two sets of findings. The first set presents descriptive findings from survey data on the social mobility outcomes of return migrant families by industry and educational attainment. The second set presents an analysis of the qualitative data and narratives to identify the mechanisms influencing intergenerational social mobility within return migrant families. Finally, the discussion and conclusion section highlights key findings, addresses the study's limitations, and offers directions for future research.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Social Stratification and Mobility in Mexico

The sociological literature conceptualizes intergenerational social mobility as the transmission of educational or occupational status from parent to child that leads to upward, downward, or stagnant social mobility. Three studies conducted in the 1960s and 1970s on social stratification and mobility in Mexico develop a framework for the process of social reproduction that resembles Blau and Duncan's (1967) classic model of status attainment (Balán, Browning, and Jelin 1973; Muñoz, Oliveira and Stern 1977; Contreras 1978). Social status attainment is largely shaped by one's social origins, which are measured using father and mother's education and father's occupation. Social origins are reproduced in the subsequent generation, as they strongly affect children's educational attainment and have a small direct influence on children's occupational attainment. Their educational attainment strongly predicts their occupational attainment, thereby functioning as a mediator between social origins and occupational attainment. Finally, social origins have a smaller effect on education over time.

Social status attainment is just one mechanism that shapes the process of intergenerational social mobility. Social context also affects the intergenerational transmission of educational and occupational status from parent to child. For instance, institutional factors such as labor market trends and returns on education can lessen the salience of family background in shaping social mobility pathways for the next generation.

In the case of Mexico, the country underwent significant economic changes in the twentieth century. Between 1930 and 1970, Mexico and other Latin American countries rapidly

industrialized using the import substitution industrialization (ISI) model of development, which aimed to increase the national production of goods and services in order to develop internal markets (Dussel Peters 2000; Pastor and Wise 1998). This period of economic growth generated new job opportunities in Mexico's cities, which gave way to urbanization and internal migration from rural to urban areas. The prospect of finding new kinds of industrial work resulted in high social mobility among both internal migrants and long-term urban residents with diverse social origins. Three studies by Balán et al. (1973), Muñoz et al. (1977), and González Casanova (Contreras 1978), which were part of the Monterrey Geographic and Social Mobility Project, illustrate that Mexico had high absolute upward mobility rates during its period of economic restructuring. However, by the early 1980s, Mexico's economic boom came to an end as the nation experienced a debt crisis that increased interest rates and devalued the peso. At this time, Mexico began to shift away from the ISI policies of the 1960s and 1970s to a neoliberal, open market-driven economic approach in which the development of international as opposed to internal markets became the nation's prime concern (Parrado 2005). The focus on an exportoriented economy reduced public sector employment, called for labor flexibility, and prioritized entry into the global economy. Although Mexico's involvement in the global economy appeared promising, especially after the implementation of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) in 1994, it negatively affected the domestic labor force by stagnating average incomes and increasing inequality (Parrado 2005). High poverty, lack of employment, and decline in real wages also persisted into the 2000s, and these trends decreased upward, intra-generational occupational mobility and increased downward mobility for both skilled and less skilled workers (Parrado 2005; Torche and Ribeiro 2007). Mexico has only begun to display signs of regionallevel economic improvement in recent years (Hagan et al. 2015).

The accessibility and quality of schooling is another institutional factor that has implications for social mobility opportunities. The education systems of Mexico and other Latin American countries have undergone major reform throughout the twentieth century as part of ongoing development efforts. In Mexico's case, the expansion of public education began in 1950 when the government tripled the number of primary schools in the nation, which also resulted in a drastic increase in the number of teachers and student enrollment throughout the 1960s and 1970s (Psacharopoulos et al. 1996). The federal government initiated additional reform measures in the late 1980s with aims to decentralize the education system over time in order to address educational needs at the local level (Tatto 1999). In 1992, Mexico's president, secretary of education, governors of each of its 31 states, and teachers' union signed a federal initiative called the National Agreement to Modernize Basic Education (ANMEB), which placed the once federally-controlled education system under state jurisdiction (Tatto 1999). The initiative also made lower secondary school mandatory, which includes seventh through ninth grade (Parker, Rubalcava, Teruel, and Behrman 2007). By decentralizing the education system, ANMEB intended to improve the level and quality of schooling in Mexico according to each district's needs and increase community participation in education. Overall, Mexico's educational reform measures succeeded at increasing the overall years of schooling for its population. The completion of primary and lower secondary school significantly increased by the end of the twentieth century (Binder and Woodruff 2002). However, educational expansion did little to alleviate the increasingly inflexible class structure. The open market and export-driven model of development that shaped Mexico's economic restructuring policies in the 1980s had negative consequences for workers, who saw a decline in real wages and an increase in income inequality that was already high in Mexico (Parrado 2005). Opportunities for upward mobility in the labor

market diminished at the same time that the potential for downward mobility increased, even among highly educated workers. As a result, Mexico saw a reduction in returns on education in the form of upward occupational mobility due to the mismatch that existed between rising human capital and limited occupational opportunities (Parrado 2005).

Intergenerational Mobility within Return Migrant Families

Overall, the existing literature on the effects of international migration on the labor market reentry of return migrants provides some insight into how labor migrants socioeconomically fare compared to their parents. First, as previously stated, social reproduction occurs between parent and child; specifically, fathers transmit their occupational status to their sons, and this relationship is mediated vis-à-vis education (Blau and Duncan 1967). It is also important to consider labor market entry when examining the occupational status transmission process, as sons' first occupation is positively correlated with their current occupation. Second, studies on return migration find that labor migrants transfer human capital, financial capital, and physical assets that they accumulated during their time abroad to the origin country (Cobo, Giorguli, and Alba 2010; Hagan et al. 2015). Furthermore, migrants' reasons for return, individual characteristics, (e.g. years of schooling and type of skills acquired abroad), and social networks, in addition to the economic context of sending countries and communities, affect their reincorporation into the labor market. (Cassarino 2004; Lindstrom 1996; Ruben, van Houte, and Davids 2009; Hagan et al. 2015). Thus, the migration experience has the potential to disrupt the occupational status transmission process, leaving room for intergenerational mobility to occur between labor migrants with low-SES backgrounds and their parents residing in the country of origin. Higher levels of transferrable human and financial capital, voluntary return migration, increased education or skill sets, strong network support, and low national unemployment rates

serve as factors that may increase their opportunities for upward occupational mobility, creating distance between them and their parents in terms of occupational status.

Findings from recent studies on return migration lend support to the claim that intergenerational social mobility occurs between return migrants and their parents by examining patterns of intra-generational mobility among return migrants. A study by Hagan and colleagues (2015) on human capital and social mobility among Mexican migrants in Leon, Guanajuato uses fieldwork, interview, and survey data to illustrate that migration can disrupt the occupational status transmission process intra-generationally by facilitating skill acquisition and transfer across the migratory circuit. It is precisely through the migration experience that some migrants with low levels of traditional human capital are able to apply job skills acquired in their sending communities or learn new job skills in the destination country that facilitates upward occupational mobility – either through finding higher-skilled work, starting a business, or reporting increased job satisfaction – upon their return home (Hagan and Wassink 2016). One can postulate that the intra-generational outcomes observed in Hagan et al's (2015) study also demonstrate intergenerational mobility, as the migrants in this study have low socioeconomic origins.

Similarly, Cobo et al's (2010) study demonstrates that some return migrants experience upward occupational mobility; however, they add that prospects for such mobility depend on contextual factors of the labor force in sending communities. They use information from the Mexican Migration Project (MMP), which contains social and economic data on Mexico-U.S. migration, and the Latin American Migration Project (LAMP), an extension of MMP that contains data on U.S. migration from other Latin American countries, to examine the occupational mobility of return migrants from four sending states: Mexico, Costa Rica,

Guatemala, and Puerto Rico. Findings indicate that the economic context of the origin country directly impacts the possibility and directionality of occupational mobility of return migrants. For example, Mexico and Puerto Rico's limited opportunity structures explain the prevalence of downward occupational mobility among returnees, while the contrary is true for those returning to Costa Rica and Guatemala. Migrants returning to urban areas have decreased odds of downward mobility due to the greater number of economic opportunities that are available to them. Urban areas tend to have more diverse labor markets by industry, which increases the likelihood for social mobility to occur. Likewise, migrants returning to sending communities with high poverty levels are more likely to experience stagnant (i.e. Guatemala) or downward (i.e. Mexico and Costa Rica) occupational mobility.

In addition to economic context, life course stage and migration and work history abroad affect migrants' prospects for occupational mobility upon return. Cobo et al. use country-specific models to determine the effects of age at the time of migration, number of trips abroad, accumulated experience in the destination country, and last job held in the destination country on occupational achievement in the sending state, and they produce mixed results. For example, migrants from Costa Rica and Mexico who move after age 25 have a greater likelihood of experiencing upward occupational mobility upon return, while returnees to Guatemala and Puerto Rico are more likely to experience downward or stagnant mobility. In Mexico's case, more trips abroad increase the likelihood of downward mobility for returnees, while more accumulated U.S. experience limits the possibility of occupational mobility in either direction. This finding reflects of the selection of Mexican migrants into seasonal, low-paid work in the United States (p. 261). Finally, having a non-manual, non-agricultural last job in the United States increases the likelihood for upward occupational mobility in Mexico due to the potential

for skill acquisition and transfer. Cobo et al. note that the association between each individual characteristic and occupational mobility among returnees varies by country of origin, and this is likely caused by latent heterogeneity in the migration experience. However, the study overall illustrates that the migration experience influences social mobility pathways available to migrants upon their return home.

One study examines intergenerational outcomes across three generations of migrant and non-migrant families, as well as families of mixed migratory status, ¹ in Turkey and Europe that examines international migration's effects on social mobility outcomes across generations.

Guveli et al. (2016) incorporate origin-oriented, multi-site and multi-generational data from the 2000 Families: Migration Histories of Turks in Europe project. The study's findings first suggest that migrant self-selection takes place; in other words, potential migrants are more socially mobile before migrating. Those who display signs of social mobility via education, for instance, are more likely to become international migrants (Guveli et al. 2016, p. 95). This is why a non-migrant father's occupation in Turkey does not strongly predict their migrant children's first job. The study also demonstrates that occupational status transmission is a less definitive process among migrants compared to non-migrants. For example, a non-migrant father's occupation in Turkey is weakly correlated with the first job (i.e. before migration) and most recent job (i.e. after migration) of their migrant children.² while a non-migrant father's occupation remains a

1

¹Non-migrant families include individuals who resided in Turkey for three generations (abbreviated as TRTRTR), while migrant families resided in Europe for three generations (EUEUEU). Families of mixed migratory status include non-migrant grandparents, migrant parents, and either non-migrant or migrant children (TREUTR or TREUEU).

²Guveli et al. (2016) note that they are not able to distinguish the location of the most recent job of migrants. However, they indicate that over 70 percent of this generation of migrants experienced return migration, so we assume that the majority of respondents work in the origin country.

strong predictor of the first and most recent jobs among children who do not migrate from Turkey (Guveli et al. 2016, p. 104). In terms of educational status transmission, both individual characteristics and social context affect the prospect for intergenerational mobility. Children living in Turkey that have a migrant parent in Europe have less favorable educational outcomes compared to both children living in Europe and children living in Turkey whose parents never migrated, and this likely occurs due to the physical absence of migrant parents that can lead to a reduction in social support for children left behind. Nevertheless, both migrant and non-migrant children have benefited from educational reform measures. The educational expansion that took place in Europe between the 1930s and 1980s increased opportunities for students to achieve higher levels of education, and children of migrant families living in Europe enjoy these opportunities. Similarly, recent cohorts of children of non-migrant families living in Turkey have also begun to benefit from Turkey's efforts to expand education since the 1980s. Overall, these findings support Guveli et al's (2016) conclusion that migration interrupts the social status transmission process by reducing the effect of family background on the educational and occupational outcomes of the next generation.

Parental Migration and Social Mobility Among Children Left Behind

Although the academic literature on intergenerational social mobility across two as opposed to three generations of migrant families is vast, there are a limited number of existing studies that quantitatively examine parental migration's effects on the social mobility pathways of children left behind in the country of origin. Among these studies, there is a debate about the way in which parental migration affects non-migrant children's educational and occupational mobility opportunities. Many of the existing studies suggest that parental migration does little to prevent social reproduction across generations and is actually correlated with unfavorable

outcomes in education and local labor force participation due to parental absence. This means that the persistence of social reproduction among migrants with low levels of formal human capital, such as the migrants in this study, may stagnate social mobility across generations or result in downward mobility. Still, a few studies claim that parental migration expands educational opportunities for children, which has the potential to lessen the otherwise negative effects of parental absence on the social mobility pathways of children.

Several proponents of the notion that parental international migration negatively impacts children's educational outcomes, especially among non-migrant children, claim that a "culture of migration" deters children's attention away from school (Kandel and Massey 2002; Massey 1986, 1987; Mines and Massey 1985; Cohen 2004; Cohen 2011). The culture of migration is one in which children whose families, households, and communities belong directly and indirectly to migrant networks also become more likely to migrate internationally (Creighton et al. 2009; Cohen 2004; Kandel and Massey 2002). The likelihood of migration increases because children associate a future international move with potential employment benefits. Their motivation to continue their schooling diminishes as a result.

Studies by Creighton et al. (2009) and Halpern-Manners (2011) provide evidence to suggest that a culture of migration is prevalent in migrant sending communities in Mexico and affects the schooling of children left behind by migrant parents. Creighton et al. (2009) use data from the Mexican Family Life Survey (MxFLS), a longitudinal, nationally and regionally representative sample of 8,440 households across 150 communities between 2002 and 2005, to examine the likelihood of dropping out of secondary school for tenth through twelfth-grade children living in single-mother homes due to international migration or divorce/separation. They find that, in both cases, the likelihood of dropping out for children living in single-mother homes

is higher than for children living in two-parent homes. They partially attribute the negative social effects of international migration on non-migrant children's educational outcomes to the culture of migration; that is, international migration becomes more readily associated with financial gain than school completion. Halpern-Manners (2011) also cites the culture of migration as inhibiting educational attainment, as well as domestic labor force participation. The study uses a nationally representative sample of adolescents between the ages of 15 and 18 from the Integrated Public Use Microdata Series-International (IPUMS-International) archive, which contains microdata from Mexico's XII General Population and Housing Census in 2000. Findings illustrate that the emigration of family members has a strong negative effect on educational attainment and domestic labor force participation among non-migrant youth. Halpern-Manners suggests that the youth become oriented towards international migration. These results do not differ by sex, which is consistent with previous studies and suggests that the gender gap in education may be closing in Mexico (Kandel and Kao 2001).

Creighton et al's (2009) study also highlights another consequence of parental migration that leads to poorer educational outcomes for children left behind: loss of social support. Within the U.S. context, a large body of research has shown that social support in the form of parental involvement in children's education positively affects school completion and success (Jeynes 2005; Anguiano 2004). Such parental involvement is reduced in migrant families due to the physical absence of one parent, and this may influence families with an international as opposed to internal migrant parent more because of the greater physical distance between parents and children (Creighton et al. 2009). After testing the relationship between SES and dropping out of high school for children with single mothers, Creighton et al. (2009) find that economic factors do not explain the association between SES and dropout rates for migrant families. They

conclude that social consequences of migration, which include lower levels of social support, drive this relationship.

As previously explained, findings by Guveli et al. (2016) also illustrate that parental absence due to migration can weaken social support, especially educational support, for non-migrant children. Their data across three generations of migrant and non-migrant families allow them to highlight the implications that reduced social support may have on the future social mobility of non-migrant children. The authors reason that because a migrant parent is absent from the household for extensive time periods, the social status transmission process between non-migrant grandparents and grandchildren becomes more influential due to grandparents' residence in the country of origin. Thus, if non-migrant grandparents have low socioeconomic status, their non-migrant grandchildren are also more likely to have poor educational outcomes. This association strengthens when parents' socioeconomic status is also low. From these findings, Guveli et al. (2016) conclude that education is the main route through which intergenerational social reproduction occurs within migrant and non-migrant families.

A third explanation for the negative effects of international migration on child outcomes highlights the psychological costs associated with migration (Lu 2014; Silver 2006). Silver (2006) uses MxFLS data to illustrate the detrimental effects of international migration on the mental health of close family members left behind in Mexico; particularly, with regard to reported feelings of depression and loneliness for spousal and parent-child relationships. Lu (2014) also incorporates data from the MxFLS as well as the Indonesian Family Life Survey to make cross-national comparisons of the effects of international migration on the educational outcomes of children left behind. Results indicate that, regardless of sending country or migrant stream, children left behind by international migrant parents had lower educational attainment

compared to children of non-migrant parents due to the psychological effects of family separation. The negative association was larger for Mexico than Indonesia. One possible explanation for this finding is "the different levels of development and public educational spending" (Lu 2014, p. 1094). In Indonesia, levels of economic development are low and educational resources and opportunities are limited, which causes families to depend more on financial remittances to cover the costs for children's schooling. In contrast, Mexico has reached a moderate level of economic development and can provide more educational resources.

Therefore, financial remittances are not as advantageous for children's educational outcomes in Mexico compared to Indonesia.

While several studies demonstrate the negative consequences of parental migration on children's educational and occupational outcomes, findings from other studies suggest that financial remittances can attenuate these negative outcomes in education by increasing household assets and stability (Nobles 2011; Antman 2002; Dustmann 2008). Remittances can relieve household financial constraints, which may allow children left behind to remain in school as opposed to enter the labor force and make it easier for migrant families to increase educational investments in children. They can serve as a key form of educational investment for children with migrant parents and tend to promote community development in sending states at the local level, despite offering more limited effects at the national level (Durand, Parrado, and Massey 1996; Massey et al. 2008).

A study by Nobles (2011) on the role of non-resident fathers in children's education in Mexico considers the effect of the fathers' financial support on children's educational outcomes and aspirations to attend college. Using data on 739 children in Mexico and their non-resident fathers from the MxFLS, Nobles finds that children who have migrant fathers receive more

financial support from them than those whose fathers are absent from the household due to divorce. Positive correlations also exist between the financial support of migrant fathers and educational outcomes, and the financial support of migrant fathers and children's aspirations to attend college. Nobles's findings confirm that parental absence due to migration may not result in a complete loss of support for children left behind compared to other forms of parental absence. Since migrant fathers are likely to remit money back home, children are less likely to have to drop out of school to work because remittances alleviate household financial constraints (McKenzie and Rapoport 2006) and are often used to pay for children's schooling (Dreby 2010). Furthermore, findings from Nobles's study do not lend support to the notion that parental migration lowers social support and perpetuates a culture of migration. Her results illustrate that children have regular and more frequent contact with migrant fathers compared to children with divorced fathers, partially due to technological advances and the increase in communication devices over time, and this directly challenges the notion that migrant fathers are not involved in the lives of their non-migrant children. Nobles argues that migrant fathers' actions from abroad do not necessarily drive the culture of migration in Mexico. The fact that the association between the financial contributions of migrant fathers and the educational outcomes and aspirations of children left behind remains positive shows that migrant families are invested in their children's futures in Mexico (p. 742).

If parental migration can serve as a strategy to increase financial investment into children's education, then migration has the potential to disrupt the educational attainment process across generations. Dustmann's (2008) study, based on 19 waves of the German Socio-Economic panel between 1984 and 2002, examines the relationship between both educational investments in sons and the sons' earnings in the host country and the likelihood of fathers'

permanent migration in the host country. The study's sample is comprised of immigrant fatherson pairs and a reference group of non-immigrant father-son pairs: that is, 334 sons of foreignborn fathers and 795 sons of native-born fathers in Germany. Using two time points – the first with both foreign-born fathers and sons living in the host country, and the second with foreignborn fathers migrating to their parents' origin country – the study demonstrates that educational investments in sons increase as the probability of the father's permanent migration to Germany, the host country, increases. The probability of permanent migration is also positively correlated with the wages of sons. These conclusions, though limited to migrant father-son pairs, affirm that migration can enable intergenerational social mobility among families of mixed migratory status vis-à-vis educational investments in children.

Parental migration might also produce gendered educational outcomes. In general, women are less likely to attend high school than men in Mexico (Andersen 2000). Post (2001) explains that the likelihood of full-time enrollment in secondary school without working for pay while attending school, engaging in domestic or unpaid labor, or working full-time decreases for daughters based on regional and individual level characteristics: namely, for those who live in rural as opposed to metropolitan areas, are the oldest of their siblings, and have younger sisters. This is likely the case due to the pressures placed on daughters to assume unpaid household work. The migration experience of one parent has the potential to alleviate the pressure of domestic responsibilities and increase the educational possibilities for daughters by generating more financial capital for the household. Some studies on the effects of parental migration on non-migrant child outcomes suggest that daughters and sons left behind received different levels of financial and social support from their parent living abroad (Antman 2012; Hu 2013).

Disentangling the effects of financial investments in education by gender is particularly important for understanding intergenerational social mobility pathways in the case of Mexico.

Hu's (2013) study uses longitudinal data from China's Gansu Survey of Children and Families, a longitudinal survey that contains data on children's welfare outcomes in rural areas of Gansu province in northwest China, and uncovers a negative association between the absence of adult household members (which include parents) and the educational performance of children, yet remittances maintain a small positive effect on educational performance. Both associations increase in magnitude for girls: the absence of adult household members proves more detrimental for girls' educational performance than for boys, but girls' educational performance also benefits more from remittances. Similarly, Antman's (2012) study, which uses survey data from MMP, demonstrates that daughters who are younger than 20 years old at the time of their fathers' migration to the United States have higher educational attainment by almost one year of schooling relative to daughters who are aged 20 and older at the time of their father's migration. Thus, not only do remittances serve as an important facilitator of educational attainment among daughters left behind by migrant fathers, but life course stage also functions as an important point of distinction between daughters who benefit from financial investment in education and those who do not.

Girls' education appears to benefit more from parental migration in these studies than their male counterparts due to the lessening of household resource constraint. In Antman's (2012) study, mothers whose husbands have migrated to the United States may become employed themselves. Mothers' wages and remittances from fathers may increase household income, thereby increasing the incentives for educating daughters. Conversely, since mothers are most likely to remain unemployed but become temporary household heads while their husbands

are away, they gain more power when it comes to decision-making and resource management.

They can therefore increase investment in their daughters' education, which leads to more favorable schooling outcomes and, potentially, future social mobility.

The aforementioned studies on migration and intergenerational mobility raise several points that are important for this thesis. First, family background is an important factor for understanding the social status transmission process. Although the strength of the relationship between family background and social mobility among migrants is unclear, evidence from existing studies indicates that migrants' opportunities for occupational mobility across the migratory circuit directly impacts the potential for intergenerational mobility to occur. Second, parental migration appears to impact the relationship between family background and social mobility, but whether or not it strengthens or attenuates the relationship remains unclear and likely varies generationally and based on the family's migration history and time abroad. Third, the financial, social, and psychological costs and benefits that stem from parental international migration influences the schooling and labor market experiences of children left behind. Finally, the effects of parental migration on children's mobility opportunities are gendered, with daughters potentially benefiting more from greater investments in education than sons.

The findings from the migration and social mobility literature also present several limitations that my project seeks to address. First, with the exception of Guveli et al's (2016) study, which examines longitudinal, multi-generational data on Turkish migrants, the existing research does not utilize multi-generational data, thus restricting their analyses to parent-child models. Second, the existing research only employs quantitative data analyses to explain the relationship between parental migration and one or more social mobility indicators among non-migrant children. They do not explore the particular aspects of the parental migration experience

that shape social mobility pathways for children, nor do they offer insight into how migrants understand their migration experience as impacting their children's futures. In addition, scholars have not reached a consensus regarding the effects of parental migration on children left behind, nor do previous studies explore the ways in which the migration experience of returning parents can reshape non-migrant children's educational and occupational trajectories via the transmission of new human capital acquired abroad between parents and children.

This project is well suited to fill gaps in the scholarship on return migration and intergenerational social mobility in Mexico due to its use of interview and survey data across two time points on three generations of migrant families. Using a mixed methods approach, it aims to uncover and describe the aspects of the return migration experience of parents that affect social reproduction across generations, even if other family members did not migrate themselves. Survey and interview data on the educational and occupational attainment of returnees across the migratory circuit, as well as comparable information on the grandparents and children – the majority of whom reside in Leon – will offer another perspective on the costs and benefits of international migration on non-migrant family members. If the cross-border transfer of human and financial capital creates avenues for occupational mobility among returnees, then it is possible for their social status to improve beyond that of the previous generation and may have implications for their children's educational and occupational trajectories.

DATA AND METHODS

Research Site

The composition of migration flows between Mexico and the United States changed at the end of the twentieth century. Traditionally, migrants from rural communities sought temporary labor opportunities in agriculture and moved to places in the U.S. Southwest, California, and Chicago (Donato 1994). The liberalization of the Mexican market and other economic changes created financial instability among urban industrial workers that prompted them to internationally migrate in search of labor opportunities and higher wages. Many of these migrants settled in new destinations like southeastern U.S. states and found work in the growing sectors of construction, manufacturing, meatpacking, and forestry (Durand, Massey, and Capoferro 2005; Massey 2008).

By the mid-2000s, changes in the direction of migration flows between Mexico and the United States reoriented the U.S.-Mexico migratory system. The net rate of unauthorized migration decreased to about zero, and the rate of return migration to Mexico increased (Chiquiar and Salcedo 2013). Returnees' decision to migrate back to Mexico was influenced by improvements in the Mexican economy, the U.S. recession, and increased border enforcement and deportations of unauthorized migrants. Instead of settling in rural areas, returnees have generally relocated to medium and large urban centers with diverse labor markets where they can apply human, financial, and language capital acquired abroad to new jobs (Masferrer and Roberts 2012).

In order to account for the aforementioned changes in the U.S.-Mexico migration system, I have chosen the city of Leon as the site of my study. Leon is a large industrial center with a population of about 1.3 million residents located in Guanajuato, a major sending state of migrants to the United States since the 1980s. Its most important labor source stems from the manufacturing sector, especially from its domestic-oriented shoemaking, leather, and textile industry. The shoe industry is comprised of large manufacturing plants, medium-sized factories, and small, family-owned "picas," with the picas each employing fewer than 20 workers and constituting the majority of the industry's establishments throughout the city (Hagan et al. 2015; Brown Grossman and Villalobos 1997). About a quarter of all establishments in this industry are unregistered (Brown Grossman and Villalobos 1997). Historically, the rapid industrialization of the Mexican economy between 1930 and 1970 made it difficult for Leon's domestically focused shoe and leather industry to remain competitive in the new export-based open market. The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), passed in 1986, eliminated taxes and other regulations from foreign products that further hampered shoe production. The success of Leon's shoe and leather industry remained in flux throughout the 1990s amidst political and economic changes. The enactment of NAFTA, for instance, somewhat increased Mexican exports and restricted foreign imports, but the policy changes did little to benefit the picas and other small firms in the shoe industry (Hernández-Águila 2007; Hagan et al. 2015). When the value of the peso plummeted during Mexico's economic crisis in 1995, domestically-produced shoes became less expensive than imported shoes. As a result, shoe exports increased from 5.1 million pairs in 1994 to 11.6 million pairs in 1995 (Hagan et al. 2015). Still, the economic crisis decreased the overall demand for shoes, leading to mass unemployment in the industry and the closing of almost 150 shoe manufacturing plants in Leon (Hernández-Águila 2007; Hagan et al. 2015).

Although Leon's shoe and leather production has been vulnerable to the consequences of Mexico's economic restructuring initiatives throughout the twentieth century, it continues to produce almost two-thirds of Mexico's leather and currently employs about twenty percent of Leon's population (Hagan et al. 2015). Other industries, including retail, hospitality, and services, have also expanded due to the growing prominence of international markets. In spite of the dominance of the shoe and leather industry, Leon is an ideal site to examine intergenerational social mobility across generations of migrant families. Unlike traditional sending communities in Mexico with agriculture-based local economies, Leon's industrial labor market offers job opportunities across many industries that require employees to learn various skill sets before migration. The levels and forms of human capital of Leon's return migrant population mirror this heterogeneity, and this will allow me to consider the various possibilities for intergenerational skill acquisition and transfer, as well as social mobility. With the shoe and leather industry as the primary employer of Leon's working age population, I will be able to observe how many former migrants and their children exhibit occupational mobility by exiting the shoe industry and to what capacity. Additionally, my study in Leon will contribute to the scholarship on urban sending states, which remains limited (Marcelli and Cornelius 2001; Fussell and Massey 2004; Hernández-León 2008).

Research Design

My study is part of a larger longitudinal and multi-method project that focuses on migration, skill transfers, and intergenerational social mobility (Hagan et al. 2015). The data consist of two surveys, administered five years apart, with a sample of return migrants in Leon, along with worksite observations of large and medium-sized factories and family-based businesses in the area. The first survey from 2010 was delivered to a representative sample of

200 return migrants to Leon. This survey aimed to capture the processes of skill acquisition and transfer across the migratory circuit and their effects on the economic mobility pathways of migrants upon returning home.

The in-depth interviews took place in the return migrants' homes and worksites. Six graduate students from the University of Guanajuato and one of the authors conducted the interviews in Spanish. They lasted between an hour and an hour and a half in length and were comprised of 150 close-ended questions and 30 open-ended questions. The close-ended questions centered on the migration and employment histories of the return migrants, as well as on demographic information and the acquisition and transfer of money and skills from the United States to work in Mexico. The open-ended questions focused on reasons for migration, job characteristics, and labor market trajectories. Respondents provided voice-recorded personal narratives at the conclusion of each interview that detailed lifelong work experience and skill development and transfers. All interview data were coded and entered into either STATA or word processing files.

Follow-up interviews were conducted with the original respondents in 2015 by Hagan and a team of students from Mexico and the United States. This stage of data collection proved to be the first follow-up study of return migration. The interview team was able to relocate and interview 100 respondents, which was half of the original sample. New questions focused on the migration and employment histories of the return migrants since the last survey in 2010, as well as issues relating to reentry into the labor market upon return and sources of job satisfaction. The 2015 also included a module on intergenerational mobility. Given my focus on intergenerational mobility, my analyses will be based on information collected from 50 of the respondents from 2015 who provided responses to questions from a new module that captured information on the

return migrants' parents and children. Respondents were asked about the primary occupations of their mothers and fathers, as well as their opinions on their parents' level of satisfaction with their (respondents') current work. They also provided demographic, educational, and occupational data on their children over the age of 13. Finally, respondents were asked openended questions on occupational aspirations for their children and skill transfers to children before and after migration. Information was collected on a total of 91 parents and 123 children and entered into STATA. In order to investigate whether parental migration affects children's school and work outcomes, data from my sample will be compared with educational and occupational data on non-migrant youth in Leon from IPUMS-International, which contains census microdata for 82 countries from 1960 to the present (Minnesota Population Center 2015).³

_

³The author wishes to acknowledge the statistical office that provided the underlying data making this research possible: National Institute of Statistics, Geography, and Informatics, Mexico.

RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

Sample Profile

Table 1 provides a profile of the study sample. As the table shows, the majority of return migrants are male (80 percent). The reason for the uneven distribution of men and women in the return migrant sample, as illustrated in the literature on return migration, is that female migrants are more likely to make longer trips or settle permanently in the United States (Hondagneu-Sotelo 1994; Reyes 1997; Ruiz-Tagle and Wong 2009; Hagan et al. 2015). There is a relatively even sex ratio among the parents and children of returnees. The average age of return migrants is 46, suggesting that their migratory careers may be completed. The average age of the children is 26, placing many of them in the emerging adulthood and adulthood stages of the life course (McLeod and Almazan 2003). In terms of primary employment status, the table shows that most respondents are employed across the three generations. The percentage of homemakers significantly drops from 41 percent to 4 percent between parents of returnees and returnees, but it increases again among the children to 13 percent. This rise is likely reflective of the small sample number of female migrants. Thus, any potential findings on the basis of gender in this thesis are treated with caution.

Table 1 also shows that return migrants have low levels of traditional human capital as measured by the highest level of formal education attained. This finding corresponds with other studies that show that migrants who return to Mexico have lower levels of education than those who settle in the United States (Ruiz-Tagle and Wong 2009; Hagan et al. 2015). Fifty-six percent of the sample of return migrants completed primary school or less. A little over a third of

returnees completed secondary school (middle school). Most of the returnee's children, however, possess higher levels of traditional human capital than their parents. Over 42 percent of the children either finished or are currently enrolled in preparatory or vocational school, which consists of grades 10 through 12. Another 6.6 percent of children are also enrolled in or completed some form of higher education. These percentages are significantly higher than the four percent of return migrants who finished preparatory or vocational school and the two percent who completed college. Finally, Table 1 shows that all return migrants and over 90 percent of their children permanently resided in Mexico as of 2015. Eight percent of returnees' children lived in the United States.⁴

Occupational Changes Within Return Migrant Families

Tables 2 illustrates changes in the work experiences of return migrants, their parents, and the children of return migrants. As Table 2 shows, the generations in the sample are concentrated in different economic sectors, suggesting intergenerational social mobility through occupational change (Hagan, Lowe, and Quingla 2011; Sanderson and Painter II 2011). While almost a quarter of the parents of return migrants were concentrated in the agricultural sector of the economy, where many labored as farmworkers, none of their children or grandchildren were working in that sector at the time of the interviews. The industry shift from agriculture to service work within the sample also reflects larger industrial changes in Leon that have taken place over the last several decades. After an economic downturn in the 1990s, Mexico has managed to attract foreign companies, especially in the automotive industry, generating new jobs and a growing demand for highly skilled labor in urban centers like Leon (Cave 2013).

⁴The eight children of return migrants who resided in the United States in 2015 are excluded from the analyses in this thesis.

As Table 2 shows, almost half of return migrants and their children were employed in the service sector of the economy, where they labored in jobs in retail and hospitality. For example, Gina⁵, a 51-year-old mother of four children, worked in shoes with her husband and as a private in-home cook prior to migration. In the United States, she initially worked in a restaurant using cooking skills from Mexico. She later changed jobs and worked as a hostess at a restaurant, where she taught the chef how to make *chile rellenos* (stuffed chiles) using the proper chile peppers. Upon returning to Leon, Gina started an in-home business preparing and selling foods. By 2015, her business had expanded; she had two employees. During the interview, Gina cited her application of customer service skills that she acquired in the United States as a key factor that facilitated her successful transition out of shoes and into the service industry as the operator of a business.

Another pattern illustrated in Table 2 is the gradual movement out of the shoe and leather industry. Though not shown here, prior to migration, over 40 percent of return migrant respondents worked in the same industries as at least one parent, and the majority of these occupations were concentrated in shoe, leather, and textile manufacturing. Almost 90 percent of shoe production takes place in family-owned *picas* that each employ just a handful of workers (Brown Grossman and Villalobos 1997). A gendered division of labor exists in which men typically operate and repair machinery, while the few female employees are designated to cleaning, stitching, lacing, and packaging shoes (Hagan et al. 2015). These *picas* employed a significant number of return migrant respondents in the shoe industry prior to migration. Table 2 shows that more than 28 percent of returnees' parents worked in shoes compared to about 15 percent of returnees after their time abroad in the United States. This decrease in the percentage

⁵Pseudonyms are used for the names of all return migrants and children in this thesis.

of returnees employed in shoes is noteworthy due to the limited opportunities in shoe manufacturing for wage gains and mobility, especially for women. An exit from the shoe industry can be indicative of occupational mobility, which findings from Hagan et al's (2015) study and figures from Table 3 confirm.

Table 3 compares the distribution of the return migrant respondents and the total working population of Leon within the same age range by economic sector. The absence of return migrant respondents from the agricultural sector corresponds with the mere 2.5 percent of the working population of Leon that is employed in agriculture. The table highlights return migrants' exit from the shoe industry, with about 14 percent of returnees employed in shoes compared to a quarter of Leon's total working population. The migration experience contributed to this change, as many returnees cite the transfer of technical and social skills from the United States to Mexico as a key reason why they were able to exit the shoe industry and improve their economic situation as a result. Several of these returnees transitioned to the formal sector, where they were more likely to report increased job security or wages, while others became patrones (business owners) by successfully starting and expanding businesses. For example, Ernesto worked with shoes before migration; an industry that was introduced to him by his father at an early age. After spending five years in the United States working in the food industry, he returned to Leon and opened a manufacturing business for women's purses. By 2015, this business had expanded to include two locations and 6 to 30 employees. During the interview, Ernesto reported that his time in the United States had developed his character and made him more open-minded. His successful acquisition and transfer of social skills facilitated his mobility out of the shoe industry and helped him become a successful business owner.

Table 3 also shows that more return migrants have jobs in construction (19 percent) and repair and maintenance (14.3 percent) than Leon's working population (9.3 percent and 4.2 percent, respectively). Again, skill transfer from construction and repair jobs in the United States enabled return migrants to gain employment in these industries upon return. Take the case of Jaime. Before migration, Jaime owned a body shop and also worked part-time in a body shop as an employee. In the United States, he also worked in a body shop. Upon his return to Leon, Jaime used computer skills and equipment that he brought back from the United States to gain employment as a supervisor in a body shop. With this promotion, he received a raise and increased responsibilities. Jaime's ability to transfer technical skills in both directions between the United States and Mexico helped him get a new repair job with additional benefits upon return. Overall, these findings support existing evidence that presents the migration process as disruptive of social class reproduction. One potential pathway to intergenerational occupational mobility for migrants is an increase in skills and their applicability in the origin community's labor market.

The generation of children of return migrants in the sample are also concentrated in different economic sectors than their parents and, in some cases, the total working population of Leon. Tables 2 and 4, which compare children of migrants to their parents and grandparents and Leon's working population within the same age range, respectively, provide evidence of mobility across some industries. Like their parents, the children of return migrants are heavily concentrated in the service sector. Table 2 shows that about half of children of return migrant respondents reported working in retail, hospitality, personal, or other services, which is similar to 47.8 percent of their parents who have service jobs. The distribution of children of returnees employed in the service sector is comparable to that of the total working population of Leon

within the same age range as the children, which is about 51 percent in Table 4. On one hand, this finding is illustrative of the increased demand for service-related work in Leon. For instance, tourism has increased throughout the state of Guanajuato in the last several years, with the city of Leon becoming a popular travel destination (San Miguel Times). This has likely increased the demand for service-related work in hotels, travel agencies, and other tourist-related businesses. As a result, any special effect that parental migration may have had here is unclear. However, "services" as an industrial category covers a wide range of jobs that have various degrees of selectivity and require different levels of education and job training. Although not shown in Tables 2 or 4, the children of returnees worked almost exclusively in the formal service sector, and a small but significant percentage held professional jobs in fields like medical services and tourism. Cases that exemplify the diverse range of service jobs among the children of return migrant respondents include: Jesús's 22-year-old son, Roman, who works for the municipal police; Arturo's 36-year-old son, Pablo, who works as a Walmart employee; Gloria's 32-year-old daughter, Isabel, who works as an office administrator; and Julio's 22-year-old daughter, Sandra, who received her bachelor's degree in tourism and works at a travel agency. Each of these service jobs require different levels of formal education and interpersonal competencies, and each return migrant parent had varying degrees of success in Leon's labor market upon returning from the United States. Thus, it is still possible that parental migration positively influenced children's occupational trajectories through financial and human capital transfers, which is considered later in this section.

Table 2 also highlights a significant decrease in the percentage of children of return migrants that work in construction and repair and maintenance. While Table 2 shows that the percentage of children's parents employed in the construction industry remained almost constant

compared to their grandparents – 17.4 and 18.9 percent, respectively – only 8.8 percent of children have construction jobs. The table also shows that only 1.5 percent of the children of return migrants work in repair and maintenance compared to 13.0 percent of their parents and 3.8 percent of their grandparents. Table 4 illustrates that these figures are similar to the percentage of Leon's working population employed in construction and repair and maintenance, which are 7.9 and 3.4, respectively. The reason for this finding remains unclear. However, it is possible that since a large proportion of (male) return migrants work in construction and repair in the United States, they are able to transfer applicable skills from their U.S. work experiences and capitalize on them in Leon. This may make returnees more attractive for positions in these two industries than their children and working peers in Leon that never migrated.

In regards to the children of returnees working in shoes, Table 2 shows that 17.6 percent of children are employed in the shoe industry, which is slightly higher than their parents (15.2 percent). The reason for this small increase reflects the continuing prevalence of jobs in Leon's shoe industry and the industry's reputation as a family enterprise. Shoemaking skills are typically passed informally from father to son at an early age, and family members commonly assist with shoe production from the home (Hagan et al. 2015). As a result, positions in the shoe industry often serve as entry-level jobs for new generations of workers, especially young men, in Leon's economy. However, Table 4 shows that significantly less children of return migrant respondents, ages 15 to 58, work in shoes compared to the total working population of Leon within the same age range: 17.9 percent and 24.5 percent, respectively. The table also indicates that 16.4 percent of children of returnees have other manufacturing jobs compared to only 10 percent of Leon's working population. The percentage of children working in manufacturing outside of the shoe industry corresponds with the expansion of the manufacturing sector, especially in the

automotive industry, in the state of Guanajuato in recent years (The Worldfolio). When the figures for the shoe and other manufacturing industries are examined together, these findings illustrate that over a third of children of return migrants work some kind of manufacturing job, within or outside of the shoe industry, and this number is comparable to the total working population of Leon. Further statistical analysis is needed to determine whether or not children of return migrants are more likely to be employed in the manufacturing sector than the children of non-migrants, which is beyond the scope of this study.

Changes in Education Levels Within Return Migrant Families

As I showed in the description of the sample in Table 1, a greater percentage of children of return migrants completed preparatory or vocational school, and higher education, than their parents. In this section I ask whether this finding is due to parental migration. Table 5 suggests that in part it is. Table 5 compares the completed schooling for the children of return migrants between the ages of 18 and 54, with that of the total population of Leon within the same age range.

As Table 5 shows, over one-third of Leon's population between ages 18 and 54 have not finished secondary school, with 26.3 percent completing primary school and 9.5 percent obtaining less than a primary school education. However, under a quarter of the children of return migrant respondents have completed less than secondary school. The table also shows that 41.5 percent of the children in the sample have finished secondary school, which is higher than the 36.1 percent of their Leon peers that completed this level of schooling. There are also more children in the sample that finished preparatory or vocational school compared to their Leon counterparts: 26.8 percent and 23.0 percent, respectively. Finally, Table 5 shows that 9.8 percent

of children of return migrant respondents completed their studies at the university level, which is almost two times the percentage of their Leon peers (5.1 percent) who did the same.

Mechanisms of Intergenerational Social Mobility

As demonstrated in Hagan et al's (2015) work, social mobility is possible for return migrants to Mexico due to the *total human capital* they acquire both at home and abroad. In this thesis, total human capital describes the skills, competencies, and information that migrants with low levels of formal education can acquire, transfer, and apply throughout their life courses and migratory careers to improve their labor market trajectories (Hagan et al. 2015). Total human capital includes traditional measures of human capital, like years of formal schooling, professional training, and language skills (Chiswick 1986; Borjas 2000; Dustmann and Fabbri 2003). However, it also highlights forms of human capital that are more difficult to measure: technical (e.g. how to operate machinery), interpersonal (e.g. customer service, leadership), and cultural (e.g. specific ways of approaching work) competencies. This conceptualization of total human capital recognizes the working and social knowledge that migrants learn through their labor market experiences over the life course and across the migratory circuit.

Does parental migration serve as a key mechanism for intergenerational social mobility? In this section I draw on the qualitative data and narratives to identify the factors associated with parents' migration experience abroad that shapes the mobility experience of their children. First, I find that return migrants' social mobility outcomes affect the educational and occupational trajectories of their children living in the origin country. About 54 percent of households in the sample illustrate upward intergenerational social mobility between parent and child. Of these households, about 70 percent are cases in which return migrants experienced upward occupational mobility upon returning to Leon, and this mobility appears to have directly

facilitated their children's success in school and the labor market. Gerardo's family is one in which intergenerational social mobility is evident, and the key mechanism that appears to shape his children's social mobility pathways is his successful transfer of skills and occupational mobility upon return.

Gerardo worked for his father, the owner of a shoe factory, as a *pespuntador* (back stitcher) prior to migrating to the United States. Outside of his job, he learned how to repair shoe machines for his father's factory. Although he had completed 12 years of schooling, most of his working skills were learned on and off the job through observation and hands-on experience. He taught his children the work-related skills that he acquired during his pre-migration years in Leon, including those related to domestics and manufacturing shoes. At the age of 26, Gerardo made one trip to the United States where family members resided to earn more money and to improve the quality of his life. He did not transfer skills from Mexico to the United States, where he worked in construction and then in a restaurant. While working in the restaurant, he learned how to cook and run the establishment. He also went to night school to learn English. When he returned to Mexico after six months, Gerardo went into the security industry, initially working for a Mexican company. He later transferred to Brinks, an American security company, and cites his status as an English-speaking ex-migrant as the reason why he was hired. He frequently works overtime and also operates two businesses, a grocery and a café, with four employees. He applies his U.S. restaurant skills to his businesses in Mexico. Gerardo's children, 21-year-old Esperanza and 17-year-old Hector, both attend a private university. Esperanza currently studies criminology with hopes to practice psychology and work with children. Hector studies chemistry and hopes to become a veterinarian. Since they were young, Gerardo wanted his children to find

work in any field of their choice. After migrating to the U.S., Gerardo taught his children social skills: responsibility and the importance of studying and completing school.

Gerardo's story is one of upward intergenerational social mobility due to his occupational mobility and skill transfers to his children. Social reproduction is evident before Gerardo's migration, as he worked in the shoe industry like his father. However, his U.S. migration reshaped his occupational trajectory by helping him to exit the shoe industry. Gerardo intentionally learned new technical and social skills (e.g. customer service) as a restaurant worker and English language skills in an educational setting, which later facilitated his entry into security work and afforded him the qualifications to work for an American company that offered higher wages. The acquisition of new forms of human capital also helped him to start businesses in Mexico. Gerardo's higher wages and job stability allow him to financially support his children's private school education at the university level. Not only have Esperanza and Hector exceeded his educational attainment of high school completion, but they also aspire to become professionals. Their trajectories were likely influenced by the ideas that Gerardo transferred from the United States as well, including the importance of finishing school, which is also illustrative of an exchange of social remittances (Levitt and Lamba-Nieves 2011).

In addition to parents' skill transfer and occupational mobility as a mechanism for intergenerational social mobility among return migrant families, I find that the level of financial remittances was higher among the families that experienced upward intergenerational mobility. Children who received higher levels of remittances were more likely to experience social mobility than children whose parents sent lower levels back home. Economic opportunities in the host country benefit both the mobility experiences of migrants and their families residing in the sending community.

The social mobility within Manuel's family illustrates how skill transfers and occupational mobility upon return, as well as financial remittances, shape the educational mobility pathways of his children. Manuel worked in Mexico as an *albañil* (mason) like his father before migrating to the United States at age 33. His migration marked an effort to find work, earn higher wages, and improve the quality of his life. Although he only spent seven months in the United States, he sent weekly remittances to his wife and three children, then ages 14, 12, and 9. He was able to transfer technical masonry skills, such as laying floors, to his new job as a mason. He also learned various technical skills in plumbing and electricity, as well as how to use machinery for painting. Upon resettling in Mexico, Manuel initially returned to work as a mason, but he could not find enough work. As a result, he used U.S. machinery, technical skills, and social skills, such as professionalism and how to give accurate estimates for new jobs, to begin working as a painter. Manuel managed to establish this job as a new niche. As of 2015, he was self-employed without employees.

Manuel's three children all completed preparatory or vocational school. His 23-year-old daughter, Araceli, works in tourism, and his 21-year-old son, David, works as an engineer. Nina, his 18-year-old daughter, is still in school and aims to become a doctor. When his children were young, Manuel hoped that they would work in whatever field they desired. This remained true after migration; he indicates that he could not ask for more from them due to their physical distance. He did, however, send money home regularly to be applied towards their schooling expenses. Manuel taught his children all of his work-related technical skills when they were young, such as how to paint, so that they had a backup plan for work. He also taught them skills upon returning, including how to use the equipment for painting.

Manuel's narrative demonstrates that he achieved upward social mobility as a result of his U.S. migratory experience, and his mobility and financial remittances positively influenced his children's educational trajectories. Before migration, family background shaped Manuel's occupational status; he did the same kind of work as his father. Migration to the United States benefited Manuel by allowing him to learn new technical and social skills, which he successfully applied to his new work in Mexico. His children's trajectories illustrate upward educational mobility. They completed 12 years of schooling, while Manuel only completed 6 years. Araceli and David hold professional jobs, and Nina aspires to work in medicine, which requires additional schooling. Manuel's decision to financially invest in his children's education and transfer work-related skills to them so they could have a back-up plan for employment further shows that he migrated to improve not only the quality of his own life, but also the lives of his children.

I also find that the life course stage of the children of returnees is another factor associated with parents' migration experience that influences the mobility experiences of the children. Over three-quarters (77 percent) of the households in the sample that experienced parent-to-child upward intergenerational social mobility had children under 12 years old at the time that their parent first moved to the United States. This finding shows that childhood is a crucial stage of the life course for social status transmission between parent and child (Duncan, Yeung, Brooks-Gunn, and Smith 1998; Corsaro and Eder 1995; Rutter 1989; Entwisle and Hayduk 1988). In terms of schooling, children between ages 3 and 11 are in the initial phases. As a result, the information and resources that parents provide them can alter or reshape their educational experiences and trajectories. If international migration is socioeconomically and informationally beneficial for parents, then they can utilize additional income and new

knowledge to support their children as they move through school and develop aspirations about what kinds of work they want to do in the future. This, in turn, can facilitate intergenerational social mobility.

Take the case of Teresa, a 36-year-old return migrant and mother of three children. Before migration, Teresa was separated from her husband and resided with her three children in Leon. The daughter of a mason and a housewife, she had never completed any schooling and did not have many lucrative job opportunities. She worked in the informal sector as a street vendor selling *gorditas*, a type of stuffed pastry. When Teresa migrated to the United States in 2003 at age 29, she placed her children, then ages 8, 5, and 4, in the care of family members and left them her savings. She migrated using family connections in the states to save money for her children's education in Leon. She wanted them to continue studying and establish careers. She also intended to build a house upon return. In the United States, Teresa worked in agriculture for seven years. She managed to learn various social skills, including punctuality and customer service. Upon returning to Mexico, she found herself unemployed at first but was able to purchase a house with the money that she had saved. She eventually became self-employed in the informal sector of the Leon economy, selling Mary K products that she learned about in the United States as well as clothing at the *Tianguis*, the local flea market. She also cleans houses.

As of 2015, Teresa's 23-year-old daughter, Raquel, and two sons, Samuel (age 20) and Mateo (age 16), were still in school. Samuel and Mateo balanced school and work as merchants using skills that Teresa had taught them. Upon returning from the United States, Teresa's aspirations for her children became more specific: she hoped that they would study and become kindergarten teachers. She notes that they were initially angry with her for seemingly abandoning

them for so long. However, she would migrate again because she wants to give her children the opportunity to stay in school.

Teresa's family was able to achieve upward intergenerational social mobility due to her skill transfer and mobility upon return, as well as the life course stages of Raquel, Samuel, and Mateo when she first migrated and the financial remittances that she sent to them while she was away. Teresa used her U.S. savings to purchase a house for her and her children, establishing a form of wealth for her family. Although she remains self-employed in the informal sector, she now sells Mary K products, a cosmetic line that she learned about in the United States. Teresa finds that this, and the fact that she is much more open and assertive since returning to Mexico, has positively impacted her work upon return. She is more upwardly mobile than her mother, who was a housewife, in terms of work experience and acquisition of skills. Teresa's children were able to educationally benefit from her migration experience and upward mobility upon return due to the fact that they were young at the time of her first U.S. trip and their family could utilize remittances for schooling purposes. Teresa migrated with the intention of saving money for her children's schooling, and she remitted money on a monthly basis throughout her seven years in the United States. Her migration during their childhood stage of the life course allowed them to continue studying while she was gone. As of 2015, Raquel and Samuel both attend university, and Mateo is completing high school. This result is especially noteworthy in light of the fact that Teresa never attained any formal education in Mexico.

Parental Aspirations

Select studies on educational aspirations in the U.S. context illustrate that high levels of parental or student aspirations do not produce uniform results in academic achievement due to variation in socioeconomic status and access to resources (Kao and Tienda 1998; Bohon,

Kirkpatrick Johnson, and Gorman 2006; Teachman and Paasch 1998; Kirk, Lewis-Moss, Nilsen, and Colvin 2011). I also find that parental aspirations reported by return migrant respondents do not serve as a mechanism for upward intergenerational social mobility. Nevertheless, they illuminate the high hopes that returnees had for their children's educational and occupational trajectories before and after migration.

Return migrant respondents were asked about the kind of work they hoped their children would do when the children were young, and how their hopes may have changed after spending time in the United States. Among the migrants whose responses were recorded (N = 35), all but one expressed a desire for their children to achieve a higher social status than they did, especially in terms of education. Many migrants provided responses like "Estudiar hasta la universidad" ("To study until college"), "Que estudien y trabajen en lo que queiren" ("That they study and work in a field that they want"), and "Querria que estudiaran para ser profesionales" ("I would like them to study to become professionals"). Some migrants reported wanting their children to have careers that require higher education, such as doctors, lawyers, and engineers. Others indicated that they wanted their children to do "lo que les gusta" ("What they like") and gain satisfaction from whatever work they performed. Most of the migrants' desires for their children were present before migration and did not change after migration.

In spite of high parental aspirations, many children of return migrants did not achieve educational or occupational mobility. During the interviews, Arturo explained that he wanted his children to get jobs that provided stability and high wages, and that were not as hard as his work in the shoe industry because he was always tired. However, they left school around age 15 for low-wage work. Jesús reflected, "Sí, quería que estudiaran. Fue, primero, el problema de no querer estudiar, con los dos primeros. [Con] los otros cinco [hijos], fue económico, el

problema" ("Yes, I wanted them to study. First, the problem was that the two eldest did not want to study. With the other five children, the problem was economic"). Similarly, Carlos hoped "que estudiaran lo que gustaran, [pero] el dinero fue el problema" ("that [his/her children] would study what they liked, but money was a problem"). It is clear that high parental aspirations do not guarantee social mobility for the children of return migrants. The context of parental migration in terms of human capital and labor market outcomes is a stronger indicator of intergenerational mobility opportunities.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Intergenerational social mobility across three generations of return migrant families is evident in the data. With regard to employment by industry, there is a complete shift away from agricultural jobs by return migrants and their children. There is also a decrease in the percentage of return migrants and children employed in the shoe industry compared to return migrants' parents and the total working population of Leon. Instead, many return migrants and their children are now employed in the service sector. These findings align with the industrial changes that have taken place in Leon and Mexico more generally in recent decades. In terms of educational mobility, children of return migrants have higher educational attainment than their parents, with more children reaching or completing preparatory or vocational school and higher education. This is also the case when compared to the total population in Leon within the same age category. Higher educational attainment of the children of return migrant respondents corresponds with findings in studies by Nobles (2011), Dustmann (2008), and Antman (2012), which show that migrants invest in the schooling of their children residing in the origin country. This educational investment is associated with more favorable schooling outcomes for the children.

Finally, the mechanisms that explain intergenerational social mobility among return migrants and their families are the success of the parents' migration experience, financial remittances that migrants sent to their families while abroad, and the life course stage of the children during their parents' first U.S. trip. These findings support the claim that parental migration benefits children left behind in the origin country at certain life course stages (Antman

2012), especially vis-à-vis financial remittances (Nobles 2011; Dustmann 2008; Antman 2012). I also find that another possible mechanism, parental aspirations on the part of the return migrants, do not determine educational or occupational pathways of children. However, they do highlight that migrants' hopes for their children's futures are high in spite of their low levels of traditional human capital. Overall, the qualitative analyses illustrate that parental absence from the household does not necessarily reinforce a culture of migration that would negatively affect the educational and occupational outcomes of children left behind (Creighton et al. 2009; Halpern-Manners 2011). Instead, parental migration can serve as a strategy to broaden labor market opportunities for returnees and allow them to invest in their children's futures in the origin community.

A few data limitations arise in this study. First, the sample of return migrants is not representative of all migrants residing in Leon. This does not allow for the generalizability of the numeric findings. Second, the interview data is limited in several ways. Although it includes important data on the children of return migrants, too few questions are administered about their educational and occupational trajectories, and the majority of these questions are close-ended. The information about the parents of return migrants is restricted to their primary jobs. These limitations pose challenges for understanding how the mechanisms for intergenerational social mobility operate within return migrant families across all three generations. Finally, the children and the parents of return migrants are not interviewed; rather, information is provided by the return migrants. An examination of the children's perspective, in particular, on how their parents' migration experience affected them could have enhanced my qualitative findings. Future studies on return migration and intergenerational social mobility should address these data

restrictions and also take a longitudinal approach to understanding the intergenerational outcomes of parental migration.

Overall, this study contributes to the scholarship on international migration by considering the link between parental migration and intergenerational social mobility. The findings suggest that parental return migration affects the social mobility outcomes of the return migrants, allowing them the opportunity to increase their human and financial capital. This acquisition of skills, ideas, and money affords them more employment opportunities than their parents, which can benefit them socioeconomically. Moreover, parental return migration can create social mobility opportunities for the children who remained in the country of origin if their parents successfully reintegrate into the labor market upon return. These findings have implications for how migration can transform the lives of migrant families across international borders.

APPENDIX

Table 1. Sample Profile of Leon Return Migrant Families by Generation

Individual Characteristics	First Generation (Parents of Return Migrants)	Second Generation (Return Migrants)	Third Generation (Children of Return Migrants)
Sex			
Male (%)	50.5	80.0	49.6
Female (%)	49.5	20.0	50.4
Age (mean)	-	46.1	26.3
Primary Employment Status			
Employed (%)	58.0	88.0	54.5
Homemaker (%)	41.0	4.0	13.0
Student (%)	_	_	20.3
Unemployed & Othera (%)	1.0	8.0	11.4
Highest level of education attained ^b			
Less than primary (%)	_	26.0	7.9
Primary (%)	_	32.0	11.8
Secondary (%)	_	36.0	28.9
Preparatory/Vocational (%)	_	4.0	42.1
Higher Education (%)		2.0	6.6
Country of Residence			
Mexico (%)	_	100	91.1
United States (%)	-	0	8.9
N	100	50	123

Note: Due to rounding, percentages do not total exactly to 100 percent. ^a Looking for a job, retired, disabled, deceased, or unspecified. ^b Based on available data.

Table 2. Distribution of Return Migrant Family Sample by Generation and Economic Sector (2015)

	First Generation	Second Generation	Third Generation
	(Parents of Return Migrants)	(Return Migrants)	(Children of Return Migrants)
Industry	n = 53	n = 46	n = 68
Agriculture	24.5%	0%	0%
Construction	18.9%	17.4%	8.8%
Shoe, leather, and textile manufacturing	28.3%	15.2%	17.6%
Other manufacturing	5.7%	2.2%	17.6%
Repair and maintenance	3.8%	13.0%	1.5%
Retail, hospitality, and personal services	15.1%	32.6%	30.8%
Other services	0%	15.2%	19.1%
Other industries	3.8%	4.3%	4.4%

Note: Due to rounding, percentages do not total exactly to 100 percent.

Table 3. Distribution of Return Migrant Sample and Total Working Population of Leon, Ages 28-64, by Economic Sector (2010)

Industry	Leon Sample ^a	Leon (City) $n = 10,442$
	n = 42	
Agriculture	0%	2.5%
Construction	19.0%	9.3%
Shoe, leather, and textile manufacturing	14.3%	25.7%
Other manufacturing	2.4%	9.5%
Repair and maintenance	14.3%	4.2%
Retail, hospitality, and personal services	28.6%	23.7%
Other services	16.7%	23.8%
Other industries	4.8%	1.2%

Source: Leon city population, IPUMS-International, Minnesota Population Center, 2010.

Notes: The Leon population begins at age 28 because 28 is the age of the youngest return migrant in sample. Due to rounding, percentages do not total exactly to 100 percent.

^aFigures exclude 8 respondents who are unemployed or over the maximum working age of 64.

Table 4. Distribution of Children of Return Migrant Sample and Total Working Population of Leon, Ages 15-58, by Economic Sector (2015, 2010)

Industry	Leon Sample ^a	Leon (City)
	n = 67	n = 14,976
Agriculture	0%	2.0%
Construction	9.0%	7.9%
Shoe, leather, and textile manufacturing	17.9%	24.5%
Other manufacturing	16.4%	10.0%
Repair and maintenance	1.5%	3.4%
Retail, hospitality, and personal services	31.3%	28.4%
Other services	19.4%	22.8%
Other industries	4.5%	1.0%

Source: Leon city population, IPUMS-International, Minnesota Population Center, 2010.

Notes: The Leon population ends at age 58 because 58 is the age of the oldest child of a return migrant in sample. Due to rounding, percentages do not total exactly to 100 percent.

Table 5. Years of Study of Children of Return Migrant Sample and Total Population of Leon, Ages 18-54 (2015, 2010)

	Leon Sample	Leon (City)	
Years of Completed Study	n = 41	n = 18,090	
Less than Primary (<6 yrs.)	7.3%	9.5%	
Primary (6-8 yrs.)	14.6%	26.3%	
Secondary (9-11 yrs.)	41.5%	36.1%	
Preparatory/Vocational (12-15 yrs.)	26.8%	23.0%	
University (16 yrs.)	9.8%	5.1%	

Source: Leon city population, IPUMS-International, Minnesota Population Center, 2010.

Notes: Figures exclude respondents who were continuing their education in 2015. Due to rounding, percentages do not total exactly to 100 percent.

Figures exclude respondents whose occupation is unknown, are unemployed, or are under the minimum working age of 15.

REFERENCES

- Akresh, Ilana Redstone. 2006. "Occupational Mobility among Legal Immigrants to the United States." *International Migration Review* 40: 854-84.
- Alba, Richard and Mary C. Waters, eds. 2011. *The Next Generation: Immigrant Youth in a Comparative Perspective*. New York: New York University Press.
- Andersen, Lykke E. 2000. "Social Mobility in Latin America: Links with Adolescent Schooling." Universidad Católica Boliviana.
- Anguiano, Ruben Patricio Viramontez. 2004. "Families and Schools: The Effect of Parental Involvement of High School Completion." *Journal of Family Issues* 25(1): 61-85.
- Antman, Francisca M. 2012. "Gender, Educational Attainment, and the Impact of Parental Migration on Children Left Behind." *Journal of Population Economics* 25: 1187-1214.
- Balán, Jorge, Harley L. Browning, and Elizabeth Jelin. 1973. *Men in a Developing Society; Geographic and Social Mobility in Monterrey, Mexico*. Austin: Published for the Institute of Latin American Studies by the University of Texas Press.
- Binder, Melissa and Christopher Woodruff. 2002. "Inequality and Intergenerational Mobility in Schooling: The Case of Mexico." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 50(2): 249-67.
- Blau, Peter M. and Otis Dudley Duncan. 1967. *The American Occupational Structure*. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Bohon, Stephanie A., Monica Kirkpatrick Johnson, and Bridget K. Gorman. 2006. "College Aspirations and Expectations among Latino Adolescents in the United States." *Social Problems* 53(2): 207-225.
- Borjas, George J. 2000. "Introduction." In *Issues in the Economics of Immigration*, ed. George Borjas. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Brown Grossman, Flor and Lilia Domínguez Villalobos. 1997. "¿Es posible conformar distritos industrials? La experiencia del calzado en León, Gto." In *Pensar globalmente y actuar regionalmente*, ed. Enrique Dussel Peters, Michael Piore, and Clemente Ruiz Durán, 155-84. México: JUS / UNAM / Fundación Friedrich Ebert.
- Caponi, Vincenzo. 2011. "Intergenerational Transmission of Abilities and Self-Selection of Mexican Immigrants." *International Economic Review* 52(2): 523-47.
- Cassarino, Jean-Pierre. 2004. "Theorising Return Migration: The Conceptual Approach to Return Migration Revisited." *International Journal on Multicultural Societies* 6(2): 253-79.

- Cave, Damien. 2013. "In Middle of Mexico, a Middle Class Rises." *New York Times*, November 18. Retrieved February 14, 2017 (http://www.nytimes.com/2013/11/19/world/americas/in-the-middle-of-mexico-a-middle-class-is-rising.html).
- Chiquiar, Daniel and Alejandrina Salcedo. 2013. *Mexican Migration to the United States: Underlying Economic Factors and Possible Scenarios for Future Flows*. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.
- Chiswick, Barry R. 1986. "Is the New Immigrant Less Skilled than the Old?" *Journal of Labor Economics* 4: 168-92.
- Cobo, Salvador D., Silvia E. Giorguli and Francisco Alba. 2010. "Occupational Mobility among Return Migrants in Latin America: A Comparative Analysis." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 630: 245-68.
- Cohen, Jeffrey H. 2004. *The Culture of Migration in Southern Mexico*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- . 2011. *Cultures of Migration: The Global Nature of Contemporary Mobility*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Contreras Suárez, Enrique. 1978. *Estratificación y movilidad social en la Ciudad de México*. 1º ed. México: Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.
- Corsaro, William A. and Donna Eder. 1995. "Development and Socialization of Children and Adolescents." Pp. 421-51 in *Sociological Perspectives on Social Psychology*, edited by K. S. Cook, G. A. Fine, and J. S. House. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Creighton, Matthew J., Hyunjoon Park, and Graciela M. Teruel. 2009. "The Role of Migration and Single Motherhood in Upper Secondary Education in Mexico." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71: 1325-1339.
- Donato, Katharine M. 1994. "U.S. Policy and Mexican Migration to the United States, 1942-92." *Social Science Quarterly* 75(4): 705-29.
- Dreby, Joanna. 2010. *Divided by Borders: Mexican Migrants and Their Children*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Duncan, Greg J., W. Jean Yeung, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Judith R. Smith. 1998. "How Much Does Childhood Poverty Affect the Life Chances of Children?" *American Sociological Review* 63(3): 406-23.
- Durand, Jorge, Douglas S. Massey, and Chiara Capoferro. 2005. "The New Geography of Mexican Immigration." Pp. 1-20 in *New Destinations: Mexican Immigration in the*

- *United States*, edited by Victor Zúniga and Rubén Hernández-León. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Dussel Peters, Enrique. 2000. *Polarizing Mexico: The Impact of Liberalization Strategy*. Boulder, CO: Rienner Publishers.
- Dustmann, Christian. 2008. "Return Migration, Investment in Children, and Intergenerational Mobility: Comparing Sons of Foreign- and Native-Born Fathers." *The Journal of Human Resources* 43(2): 299-324.
- Dustmann, Christian and Francesca Fabbri. 2003. "Language Proficiency and Labor Market Performance of Immigrants in the UK." *Economic Journal* 113: 695-717.
- Entwisle, Doris R. and Leslie Alec Hayduk. 1988. "Lasting Effects of Elementary School." *Sociology of Education* 61(3): 147-59.
- Fields, Gary S. et al. 2006. "Income Mobility in Latin America." Center for International Development at Harvard University.
- Fussell, Elizabeth and Douglas S. Massey. 2004. "The Limits to Cumulative Causation: International Migration from Mexican Urban Areas." *Demography* 41(1): 151-71.
- Gitter, Seth R., Robert J. Gitter, and Douglas Southgate. 2008. "The Impact of Return Migration to Mexico." *Estudios Económicos* 23(1): 3-23.
- Grogger, Jeffrey and Stephen J. Trejo. 2002. "Falling Behind or Moving Up? The Intergenerational Progress of Mexican Americans." San Francisco: Public Policy Institute of California.
- Guarnizo, Luis Eduardo. 2010. "The Emergence of a Transnational Social Formation and the Mirage of Return Migration Among Dominican Transmigrants." *Identities: Global Studies in Culture and Power* 4(2): 281-322.
- Guveli, Ayse et al. 2016. Intergenerational Consequences of Migration: Socio-economic, Family and Cultural Patterns of Stability and Change in Turkey and Europe. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hagan, Jacqueline Maria and Joshua Wassink. 2016. "New Skills, New Jobs: Return Migration, Skill Transfers, and Business Formation in Mexico." *Social Problems*: 1-21
- Hagan, Jacqueline M., Nichola Lowe, and Christian Quingla. 2011. "Skills on the Move: Rethinking the Relationship between Human Capital and Immigrant Economic Mobility." *Work and Occupations* 38: 149-78.

- Hagan, Jacqueline Maria, Rubén Hernández-León, and Jean-Luc Demonsant. 2015. Skills of the "Unskilled:" Work and Mobility among Mexican Migrants. Oakland: University of California Press.
- Haller, Archibald O. and Alejandro Portes. 1973. "Status Attainment Processes." *Sociology of Education* 46(1): 51-91.
- Halpern-Manners, Andrew. 2011. "The Effect of Family Member Migration on Education and Work Among Nonmigrant Youth in Mexico." *Demography* 48: 73-99.
- Hernández-Águila, Elena de la Paz. 2007. "Retos y perspectivas de la industria Mexicana ante la aperture comercial." *Espiral* 14(40): 95-121.
- Hernández-León, Rubén. 2008. *Metropolitan Migrants: The Migration of Urban Mexicans to the United States*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hondagneu-Sotelo, Pierrette. 1994. *Gendered Transitions: Mexican Experiences of Immigration*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hu, Feng. 2013. "Does Migration Benefit the Schooling of Children Left Behind? Evidence from Rural Northwest China." *Demographic Research* 29(2): 33-70.
- Jeynes, William H. 2005. "Effects of Parental Involvement and Family Structure on the Academic Achievement of Adolescents." *Marriage and Family Review* 37: 99-116.
- Kandel, William and Grace Kao. 2001. "The Impact of Temporary Labor Migration on Mexican Children's Educational Aspirations and Performance." *International Migration Review* 35(4): 1205-31.
- Kandel, William and Douglas S. Massey. 2002. "The Culture of Mexican Migration: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis." *Social Forces* 80(3): 981-1004.
- Kao, Grace and Marta Tienda. 1998. "Educational Aspirations of Minority Youth." *American Journal of Education* 106(3): 349-384.
- Kasinitz, Philip, Mary Waters, John Mollenkopf, and Jennifer Holdaway. 2009. *Inheriting the City: The Children of Immigrants Come of Age*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Kirk, Chris Michael, Rhona K. Lewis-Moss, Corinne Nilsen, and Deltha Q. Colvin. 2011. "The Role of Parent Expectations on Adolescent Educational Aspirations." *Educational Studies* 37(1): 89-99.
- Levitt, Peggy and Deepak Lamba-Nieves. 2011. "Social Remittances Revisited." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 37(1): 1-22.

- Levitt, Peggy and Mary C. Waters. 2006, eds. *The Changing Face of Home: The Transnational Lives of the Second Generation*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Lin, Nan. 2001. *Social Capital: A Theory of Social Structure and Action*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lindstrom, David P. 1996. "Economic Opportunity in Mexico and Return Migration from the United States." *Demography* 33(3): 357-74.
- López-Acevedo, Gladys. 2001. "Evolution of Earnings and Rates of Returns to Education in Mexico." World Bank Poverty Reduction and Economic Management Division.
- Lu, Yao. 2014. "Parental Migration and Education on Left Behind Children: A Comparison of Two Settings." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 76: 1082-98.
- Marcelli, Enrico A. and Wayne A. Cornelius. 2001. "The Changing Profile of Mexican Migrants to the United States: New Evidence from California and Mexico." *Latin American Research Review* 36(3): 105-31.
- Masferrer, Claudia and Bryan R. Roberts. 2012. "Going Back Home: Changing Demography and Geography of Mexican Return Migration." *Population Research Policy Review* 31: 465-96.
- Massey, Douglas S. 1986. "The Social Organization of Mexican Migration to the United States." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 407: 102–13.
- Massey, Douglas S. 1987. "Understanding Mexican Migration to the United States." *The American Journal of Sociology* 92: 1372-1403.
- Massey, Douglas S. et al. 2008. Worlds in Motion: Understanding International Migration at the End of the Millennium. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- McKenzie, David and Hillel Rapoport. 2011. "Can Migration Reduce Educational Attainment? Evidence from Mexico." *Journal of Population Economics* 24: 1331-58.
- McLeod, Jane D. and Elbert P. Almazan. 2003. "Connections between Childhood and Adulthood." Pp. 391-411 in *Handbook of the Life Course*, edited by J. T. Mortimer and M. J. Shanahan. Boston: Springer US.
- Medina, Dulce and Cecilia Menjívar. 2015. "The Context of the Return Migration: Challenges of Mixed Status Families in Mexico's Schools." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 38(12): 2123-39.
- Mendoza Cota, Jorge Eduardo. 2014. "The Impact of Return Migration on the Mexican Labor Market." *Revista Internacional de Estudios Migratorios* 4(2): 183-206.

- Mines, Richard and Douglas S. Massey. 1985. "Patterns of Migration to the United States from Two Mexican Communities." *Latin American Research Review* 20(2): 104-23.
- Minnesota Population Center. 2015. *Integrated Public Use Microdata Series, International: Version 6.4* [Machine-readable database]. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota. http://doi.org/10.18128/D020.V6.4.
- Munoz García, Humberto, Orlandina de Oliveira and Claudio Stern. 1977. *Migración y Desigualdad Social en la Ciudad de México*. 1º ed. México: Instituto de Investigaciones Sociales, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México.
- Nobles, Jenna. 2011. "Parenting from Abroad: Migration, Nonresident Father Involvement, and Children's Education in Mexico." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 73: 729-46.
- Papademetriou, Demetrios G., Will Somerville, and Madeleine Sumption. 2009. "The Social Mobility of Immigrants and Their Children." *Migration Policy Institute*.
- Parker, Susan, Luis Rubalcava, Graciela Teruel, and Jere Behrman. 2007. "The Quality of Education in Latin America and the Caribbean Region: The Mexican Case." Inter-American Development Bank.
- Parrado, Emilio A. 2005. "Economic Restructuring and Intra-generational Class Mobility in Mexico." *Social Forces* 84(2): 733-57.
- Pastor, Jr., Manuel and Carol Wise. 1998. "Mexican-Style Neoliberalism: State Policy and Distributional Stress." Pp. 41-81 in *The Post-NAFTA Political Economy: Mexico and the Western Hemisphere*, edited by Carol Wise. University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press.
- Portes, Alejandro and Min Zhou. 1993. "The New Second Generation: Segmented Assimilation and Its Variants." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 530: 74-96.
- Portes, Alejandro and Rubén G. Rumbaut. 2001. *Legacies: The Story of the Immigrant Second Generation*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Post, David. 2001. "Region, Poverty, Sibship, and Gender Inequality in Mexican Education: Will Target Welfare Policy Make a Difference for Girls?" *Gender and Society* 15(3): 468-89.
- Psacharopoulos, George, Eduardo Velez, Alex Panagides, and Hongyu Yang. 1996. "Returns to Education During Economic Boom and Recession: Mexico 1984, 1989 and 1992." *Education Economics* 4(3): 219-30.
- Reyes, Belinda I. 1997. *Dynamics of Immigration: Return Migration to Western Mexico*. San Francisco: Public Policy Institute of California.

- Ruben, Ruerd, Marieke van Houte, and Tine Davids. 2009. "What Determines the Embeddedness of Forced-Return Migrants? Rethinking the Role of Pre- and Post-Return Assistance." *International Migration Review* 43(4): 908-37.
- Ruiz-Tagle, Juan C. and Rebeca Wong. 2009. "Determinants of Return Migration to Mexico among Mexicans in the United States." Detroit. Population Association of America Annual Meeting.
- Rutter, Michael. 1989. "Pathways from Childhood to Adult Life." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 30(1): 23-51.
- San Miguel Times. 2016. "Convention Tourism Strengthens Guanajuato's Economy." September 9. Retrieved February 14, 2017 (http://sanmigueltimes.com/2016/09/convention-tourism-strengthens-guanajuatos-economy/).
- Sanderson, Matthew and Matthew Painter II. 2011. "Occupational Channels for Mexican Migration: New Destination Formation in a Binational Context." *Rural Sociology* 76: 461-80.
- Silver, Alexis. 2006. "Families Across Borders: The Effects of Migration on Family Members Remaining at Home." PhD dissertation, Department of Sociology, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, 1438724.
- Smith, Robert Courtney. 2005. *Mexican New York: Transnational Lives of New Immigrants*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Solís Gutiérrez, Patricio. 2012. "Social Mobility in Mexico: Trends, Recent Findings and Research Challenges." *Trace* 62: 7-20.
- Tatto, Maria Teresa. 1999. "Education Reform and State Power in México: The Paradoxes of Decentralization." *Comparative Education Review* 43(3): 251-82.
- Teachman, Jay D. and Kathleen Paasch. 1998. "The Family and Educational Aspirations." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 60(3): 704-14.
- Telles, Edward and Vilma Ortiz. 2008. *Generations of Exclusion: Mexican Americans, Assimilation, and Race*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Terriquez, Veronica. 2014. "Trapped in the Working Class? Prospects for the Intergenerational (Im)Mobility of Latino Youth." *Sociological Inquiry* 84(3): 382-411.
- Torche, Florencia. 2014. "Intergenerational Mobility and Inequality: The Latin American Case." *Annual Review of Sociology* 40: 619-42.
- Torche, Florencia and Carlos Costa Ribeiro. 2007. "Educational Expansion and Decline in the 'Mobility Returns' of Higher Education: The Case of Brazil and Mexico." Paper

- presented at the RC28 Meeting Social Inequality and Mobility in the Process of Social Transformation, May 24-27, Brno Czech Republic. Retrieved April 22, 2016.
- Wahba, Jackline. 2015. "Who Benefits from Return Migration to Developing Countries?" IZA World of Labor 123. doi: 10.15185/izawol.124.
- The Worldfolio. 2013. "Guanajuato, A Key Economic Engine." Retrieved February 14, 2017 (http://www.theworldfolio.com/news/hector-lopez-santillana-former-governor-of-the-state-of-guanajuato-mexico-n1774/1774/).
- Zhong, Hai. 2013. "Does Education Expansion Increase Intergenerational Mobility?" *Economica* 80: 760-73.
- Zuccotti, Carolina V., Harry B. G. Ganzeboom, and Ayse Guveli. 2015. "Has Migration Been Beneficial for Migrants and Their Children? Comparing Social Mobility of Turks in Western Europe, Turks in Turkey, and Western European Natives." *International Migration Review*: 1-30.